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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS
JIMMY D. SETTLE,

Plaintiff,

VS. Case No. 2:13-cv-02606-EFM-GLR

DIVERSIFIED CONSULTANTS INC,,
KENNETH SANCHEZ, DANIEL DOE,
SARAH DOE, AND DAVID DOE,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This matter comes before the court on ii#is Motion to Remand (Doc. 10). Plaintiff
argues that Defendant’'s rembwshould be stricken and trease remanded to the Wyandotte
County District Court because (1) Defendant’'dit® of Removal (Doc. 1) was not timely filed
and (2) Defendant failed to comply with 28S.C. 1446(b)(2)(A) because not all defendants
consented to the removal actiorf-or the reasons stated belothie Court denies Plaintiff's
Motion to Remand.

l. Factual and Procedural Background
Jimmy Settle (“Plaintiff”), an individual residing in the state of Kansas, filed this action

in the District Court of Wgndotte County on October 23, 2013.Plaintiff alleges that

! Doc. 9-1, at 1.
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Diversified Consultants, Inc. (“Diversified”Kenneth Sanchez, Daniel Doe, Sarah Doe, and
David Doe engaged in abusive, deceptive and ud&ht collection practices in violation of the
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, and the Kansas Consumer
Protection Act Chapter 50 Article?6 Diversified is a debt collection agency based in Flotida.
According to the Complaint, Sanchez is a ailen manager acting opehalf of Diversified
The Complaint also states that three Doe defetsgd@ach of whom contacted Defendant in an
attempt to collect debt, acted under the aliom, supervision andoatrol of Diversified®
Defendant Diversified was served process otofer 28, 2013 and filed a notice of removal to
this Court on November 26, 2013t is uncontroverted that ¢hfour other named defendants in
this action did not join in or consent to the removal action. On December 9, 2013, Plaintiff filed
a motion to remand, arguing that Defendant’s Nob€ Removal (Doc. 1) was not timely filed
and failed to comply with 28 U.S.C. 1446(h(&) because not all defendants joined or
consented to the removal action. Diversified fiied a response to the Motion to Remand
contesting both the timeliness argument ardf#ilure to join all defendants argument.
. Analysis
Plaintiff sets out two argumés in support of his Motioto Remand. Both arguments

will be addressed in turn.

2Doc. 9-1, at 16-20, 44.
®Doc. 9-1, at 23.
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A. Plaintiffs Claim that Div ersified’s Notice of Removal Was Not Timely Is Not

Supported by the Record.

A defendant desiring to remove a civil actitom a state court to a federal court is
required to file notice of removal within thirty days after receipt of sefviBdaintiff argues that
“not even one defendant communicated to tbertcprior to the expiration of the thirty day
period that any defendant had consented to the rembvahe record shows that Diversified
was served on October 28, 213 hirty days from October 2&as November 27. Diversified
filed its notice of removal on November 26, 2d13Therefore, Diversified’s filing was timely.

B. Section 1446(b)(2)(A) Does Not Render Davsified’s Notice of Removal Defective

Because the Other Defendants Were Not Required to Join the Filing.

Section 1446(b)(2)(A) provides: “When a itiaction is removedolely under section
1441(a), all defendants who have bgeoperly joined and served mysin in or consent to the
removal of the action.” Violation of thislej commonly known as the “rule of unanimity,”
renders the petition for removal proceduralgfective and justifies remand to state coturt.
However, “exceptions exist fahe non joinder of nominalijnknown, unserved or fraudulently

joined defendants'® Such defendants need not join in or consent to remdval.

728 U.S.C. § 1446(b)(1).
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Plaintiff claims, and the record confirmsatldefendants Kenneth Sanchez, Daniel Doe,
Sarah Doe, and David Doe (“individual defendantst! not join in or consent to Diversified’'s
Notice of Removal? Plaintiff's motion argues that thiustitutes a failure to comply with the
rule of unanimity and therefore, the Court should remand the dctibefendant Diversified
contends that none of thedividual defendants wereqeired to join the removaf. Defendant
sets forth two separate bases for its position.

1. The Doe Defendants Qualify Under the “Unknown Defendant” Exception to the

Rule of Unanimity and Are Not Requiredto Join Diversified’s Removal Action.

Plaintiff argues that the Dakefendants were properly sedvand therefore are required
to join in or consent to the removal of thetion. Defendants comte that the three “Doe
defendants” fit under the “unknown defendsrgxception to the unanimity ruté. This Court
has recognized such an excepfidbriThe exception rests on theetirock principle’ that ‘[a]n
individual or entity named as a defendant isofiged to engage in litigation unless notified of
the action, and brought under a camglthority, by formal process** Daniel Doe, Sarah Doe,

and David Doe are all unknown defendants. @&fwe, these defendants need not join or

consent to Diversified’'s removal &m for the removal to be prop&t.

Y See Doc. 1.
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2. Sanchez Has Not Been Properly Serveahd, Therefore, He Is Not Required to
Join or Consent to Diversified’s Removal Action.

Under Kansas Statutes Ann@dt8 60-304, service of process to an individual by return
receipt delivery “must be addresgedan individual at the indidual’'s dwelling or usual place of
abode and to an authorized agent atafent’s usual or designated addréssSection 60-304
allows service of process to be sent tteéendant’s place of business only under certain
conditions. It reads:

If the sheriff, party or payts attorney files a returof service stating that the

return receipt delivery tthe individual at the indidual’s dwelling or usual place

of abode was refused or unclaimed arat  business address is known for the

individual, the sheriff, party or party’attorney may complete service by return

receipt delivery, addressed to the indivl at the individu&s business addre$s.
Although section 60-304 provides specific methotiserving processection 60-204 requires
only “substantial compliance” with these methétsJnder 60-204,

[s]Jubstantial compliance with any methodsgfrving process effects valid service

of process if the court finddhat, notwithstanding sonmieregularity or omission,

the party served was made aware that an action or proceeding was pending in a

specified court that might affect therpeor the party’sstatus or properts’

ZLKan. Stat. Ann. § 60-304(a).
# Kan. Stat. Ann. § 60-304(a).
% Kan. Stat. Ann. § 60-204.
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In Fisher v. DeCarvalho, the Kansas Supreme Court adset] the meaning of substantial
compliance within the meaning of sifiry service of process requiremefits.In Fisher, a
patient attempted to bring a medical malgice action against healoctor by mailing the
summons and petition via certified it the doctor's business addré8sDespite service not
actually being made upon the doctor the doctor’'s authorizedgent, the doctor actually
received the petition and filed an answer \ahiecluded, among other affirmative defenses, an
objection to the sufficiency of proce€s.The subject of the appeafas the doctor’'s motion to
dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction becausehef patient’s failure to effect a valid service
of proces$? The Court defined its task as determining whether the actions taken by the patient
constituted “substantial compliance” wiittthe meaning of section 60-28%4.

In its analysis, the Kansas Supremeuodefined “substantial compliance” as
“compliance in respect to the essential mattexseasary to assure every reasonable objective of
the statute3 The Court found that the patient had failedatisfy any of the three prerequisites

for business address service provided in section 63304. addition, the Court stressed the

% Fisher v. DeCarvalho, 298 Kan. 482, 490 (2013).
%1d. at 483.

21d. at 483-84.

2 1d. at 484.

21d. at 487-88.

%1d. at 490.

31 The Court approvingly cited the Court of Appeals’ description of the statutory steps thit skou
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place of abode; (2) the plaintiff files a return on service indicating that delivery at the indiviiuall;ng house or
usual place of abode was refused or ainekd; and (3) the certified mail isethh sent to the business address via
restricted delivery.”).



importance of serving the defendant or the deferslacthorized agent. The Court stated that
“the legislature intended that, where service islenan an individual by return receipt delivery
to a business address, actualvee on the defendant or his twer authorized agent is an
essential matter that is necessary to assureljeetive that the individal receive appropriate

notice.”?

For these reasons, the court held ttreg patient's method of service did not
substantially complyvith section 60-304°

The facts inFisher are similar to the case at handlhe issue is wéther Plaintiff
substantially complied ith section 60-304. Plaintiff attertgd to serve Sanchez on October 28,
2013 via certified mail addressed$anchez’s place of busin€ésPlaintiff did not first attempt
to serve Sanchez at his dwelling house or uswaepbdf abode, nor did Plaintiff file a return on
service indicating that delivery at Sanchez’s dwelling house or usual place of abode was refused
or unclaimed. The certified mail that went3anchez’s business address was signed by Carrie
Heminson, not Sanchéz. There is no evidence Heminsonsaauthorized to accept service of
process on Sanchez’s behalf. Theref it is clear that Plaintiffiid not restrict delivery of the
certified mail addressed to Sanchez’s businesseaddo the addressee onlyn short, Plaintiff

failed to perform any statutogyrerequisites for business adskeservice as pvided by section

60-3043¢

#1d. at 491-92.
#1d. at 492.
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For these reasons, the Court finds that PHRaiiatled to substantially comply with section
60-304 by addressing service to Sanchez’s bssia€ldress and, as a result, Sanchez was not
properly joined in this action. Therefore,n8hez’'s absence from Diversified’s Notice of
Removal does not render the removal imprdper.

Because the Court finds that DiversifiedNstice of Removal was timely and no other
parties were required toijothe filing, PlaintiffsMotion to Remand is denied.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Plaintiff's Motion to Remand (Doc. 10) is
DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 22nd day of April, 2014.

ERIC F. MELGREN
WNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

371d.; see also Green, 318 F.3d at 470.



